# 23

# Phytomining: Using Plants to Extract Valuable Metals from Mineralized Wastes and Uneconomic Resources

# Philip N. Nkrumah, Guillaume Echevarria, Peter D. Erskine, and Anthony van der Ent

# CONTENTS

23.1	Introduction	313
23.2	Phytomining Technology	314
23.3	Suitable Sites for Phytomining	315
23.4	Selection of "Metal Crops" for Nickel Phytomining Operations	315
23.5	Insights from Laboratory and Field Tests to Maximise Nickel	
	Yields	317
23.6	Processing of Nickel Biomass and Bio-Ore	318
23.7	Tropical Phytomining	318
23.8	Potential Lifespan and Economics of Nickel Phytomining	320
23.9	Conclusions	321
Acknowledgments		
References.		

# 23.1 Introduction

Hyperaccumulators are plants that share the ability to grow on metalliferous soils and to accumulate exceptional concentrations of specific metallic and metalloid elements in their shoots (Reeves 2003; van der Ent et al. 2013a). These plants can be utilized as "metal crops" and grown on unconventional resources to recover strategic metals in phytomining (also called "agromining") operations (Chaney et al. 1998, 2007; Baker et al. 2010; van der Ent et al. 2013a, 2015a). Although there are currently over 700 plant species identified as metal hyperaccumulators, including arsenic, cadmium, cobalt, copper, manganese, zinc, nickel, thallium, and selenium, over 70% are nickel hyperaccumulators. Furthermore, subeconomic nickel contaminated and mineralized soils cover extensive land areas; hence most research has focused

on the development of nickel phytomining. Large-scale demonstration of nickel phytomining with *Alyssum murale* (yellowtuft) has been undertaken in United States and Albania (Li et al. 2003; Bani et al. 2015a), and substantial potential exists in tropical regions using native "metal crops" (van der Ent et al. 2013b; Nkrumah et al. 2016). Here we discuss the status of phytomining operations with a particular focus on nickel, and highlight the progress our research team has made in providing "real-life" evidence of tropical phytomining.

### 23.2 Phytomining Technology

Phytomining relies on hyperaccumulators to extract metals in biomass for economic gain rather than pollution remediation (Chaney 1983; Brooks et al. 1998). In this approach hyperaccumulator plants are grown over (spatially large) subeconomic ore bodies or ultramafic soils followed by harvesting and incineration of the biomass to produce a commercial highgrade bio-ore. In the case of nickel, the bio-ore may be turned into a range of different nickel products that may include nickel metal, nickel-based catalysts, and pure nickel salts (Chaney et al. 2007; Barbaroux et al. 2012; van der Ent et al. 2015a).

The nickel hyperaccumulator, *Streptanthus polygaloides* (Brassicaceae), recovered 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> nickel from ultramafic substrates in initial experiments (Nicks and Chambers 1995, 1998). Similar success was achieved with other hyperaccumulators: for nickel with *Alyssum bertolonii* (Brassicaceae) in Italy (72 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> nickel) by Robinson et al. (1997) and *Berkheya coddii* in South Africa (100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> nickel); with a thallium hyperaccumulator, *Biscutella laevigata* (Brassicaceae) in France (8 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> thallium); and with gold by induced hyperaccumulation using ammonium thiocyanate in *Brassica juncea* (Brassicaceae) (up to 57 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> gold per plant) (Anderson et al. 1998, 1999, 2005). Large-scale field trials with *A. murale* (Figure 23.1) suggest that >100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> nickel could be achieved (Li et al. 2003; Bani et al. 2015a).

Societal pressure to reduce the environmental impacts of conventional mining, technical difficulties in economic recovery of metals from low-grade ores, and high metal prices have contributed to an increased interest in phytomining research (Harris et al. 2009). Compared to strip-mining operations, phytomining has an environmental impact like agriculture or agroforestry and it does not require mine site rehabilitation at the end of life (Harris et al. 2009). Phytomining might also generate renewable energy from the incineration of plant biomass before smelting or hydrometallurgical refining (Anderson et al. 1999). For a detailed life cycle assessment of phytomining supply chain, see Rodrigues et al. (2016).



#### FIGURE 23.1

Large-scale demonstration of phytomining of nickel with *Alyssum murale* growing on ultramafic substrate in the Balkans (Albania).

# 23.3 Suitable Sites for Phytomining

The cultivation of "metal crops" could be undertaken on large metal-rich surface areas. For nickel, cultivation is feasible on ultramafic areas with suitable topography, where soils are of poor normal agricultural utility, or degraded nickel-rich land which includes nickel laterite mine sites, smelter-contaminated areas, and ore beneficiation tailings (van der Ent et al. 2015a). Criteria to consider for use of land for phytomining include the ownership arrangements, location outside any protected areas/nature reserves, road accessibility, slope aspect, availability of (gravity) irrigation, and local soil properties.

# 23.4 Selection of "Metal Crops" for Nickel Phytomining Operations

Only hyperaccumulator plant species that accumulate reasonably high concentrations of nickel (>1 wt. %, but preferably >2 wt. %) in their biomass are suitable as a "metal crop." Other desirable traits include a high growth-rate and high biomass of the shoot, the ability to thrive in exposed conditions, low irrigation requirements, ease of mass propagation, resistance to disease, and so forth. Table 23.1 lists the nickel species that have been identified as having especially high potential as "metal crops."

INICKET INTELET CTUP	Species will filtrine tore	лиат юг Аррисанон а	s Metal Crup	2 TH INICKEL FILL COLLE	IIIII Operations	
Plant Species	Potential Application Area	Native Distribution	Height (m)	Cropping System	Shoot Nickel (wt. %)	References
Alyssum spp.	Mediterranean and Eurasian Region	S & SE Europe, Turkey, Armenia, Iraq, Syria	0.5-1	Perennial herb	1–2.5	(Brooks 1998)
Buxus spp.	Tropical Central America	Cuba	0.3–12	Ligneous shrub	1–2.5	(Reeves et al. 1996)
Phyllanthus spp.	Tropical Asia-Pacific Region	Southeast Asia and Central America	1–6	Ligneous shrub	2–6	(Baker et al. 1992; van der Ent et al. 2015b)
Rinorea bengalensis	Tropical Asia-Pacific Region	Southeast Asia	5-20	Ligneous shrub	1–2.7	(Brooks and Wither 1977)
Berkheya coddii	Southern Africa	South Africa, Zimbabwe	1–2	Perennial herb	1.1	(Morrey et al. 1989)
Pearsonia metallifera	Southern Africa	Zimbabwe	0.35 - 1.5	Perennial herb	1.4	(Wild 1974)
Source: From Nkrun	nah, P. N. et al., <i>Plant Soil</i> ,	406, 55-69, 2016.				

Onoratione . ne in Nichal Physic or Matal Cur with High Potential for Application Nickel Metal Crop Specie TABLE 23.1

Although local plant species are recommended because of their adaptation to local climatic and edaphic conditions (Baker 1999; Bani 2007), there are two species, A. murale (Brassicaceae), originating from the Balkans, and Berkheya coddii (Asteraceae), originating from South Africa that may be regarded as universal "metal crops" which could be widely used in Mediterranean and Steppe climates, respectively. However, careful climatic matching remains important, as an experiment with *Alyssum* spp. in Indonesia did not yield any useful outcome (van der Ent et al. 2013b). Therefore, the potential exists for *Alyssum* spp. to find application in phytomining operations in nickel-enriched soils of Australia (Queensland), China, Balkans, Iran, Greece, Russia, Turkey, and the Unites States, while B. coddii might be utilised in Brazil, South Africa, the United States, and Zimbabwe. We stress that the possible introduction of these species in these locations must comply with applicable national biosecurity legislation and appropriate crop management. For example, poor management subsequent to the scientific trials with A. murale in the United States resulted in the species becoming invasive and eventually being listed as a noxious weed in Oregon (USDA 2015).

# 23.5 Insights from Laboratory and Field Tests to Maximise Nickel Yields

High biomass production and shoot nickel content of "metal crops" are very important considerations in nickel phytomining. Appropriate agronomic systems have been proposed to maximize the yields of the selected "metal crop" (Li et al. 2003; Bani 2007; Bani et al. 2015a; Nkrumah et al. 2016). Inorganic fertilization plays a significant role in maximizing the growth and metal yield of "metal crops" (Li et al. 2003; Bani 2007; Bani et al. 2015a; Álvarez-López et al. 2016). Phosphorus appeared to have a strong effect on the biomass yield and nickel uptake by hyperaccumulator species growing on soil not previously fertilized, while previously fertilized soils show a lesser response to phosphorus fertilization (Robinson et al. 1997). In Albania, Bani et al. (2015a) found *A. murale* biomass yield was increased 10-fold with 120 kg NPK fertilizer and 77 kg calcium ha<sup>-1</sup> plus monocot herbicide to control grasses. Furthermore, these agronomic practices increased nickel phytoextraction yield from 1.7 to 105 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

Broadhurst and Chaney (2016) investigated the effect of organic matter amendments on growth and metal yield of *A. murale*. The authors observed negligible effect on the biomass and yield of the "metal crop." However, the extreme conditions of some substrates (e.g., industrial waste material or mine spoil) may require the use of organic amendments to improve soil fertility (Séré et al. 2008; Chaney and Mahoney 2014). Furthermore, the effect of soil pH on nickel accumulation in *Alyssum* spp. is unusual. Whereas increasing soil pH reduces the solubility of nickel, and hence reduces nickel concentration in "normal" crop plant species (Kukier and Chaney 2001), the nickel concentration in the biomass of *Alyssum* increased as soil pH was raised depending on soil properties (Nkrumah et al. 2016).

Beyond fertilizer treatment and pH adjustment, many plant management practices need to be employed to enhance metal yields in phytomining. First, plant density is important to optimize biomass production per unit area, and evidence suggests intermediate density results in optimum nickel yield (Angle et al. 2001; Bani et al. 2015b). Second, weed control minimizes the competition between the "metal crop" and weeds for essential nutrients and water (Chaney et al. 2007; Bani et al. 2015a). Third, Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR) might be an interesting option as some PGPR isolated from the native rhizosphere of hyperaccumulators were shown to significantly improve the phytoextraction yield of hyperaccumulator plants grown in inoculated soils in pot experiments (Durand et al. 2016). The management of propagation and harvest will necessarily be dependent upon the species being used for phytomining (Nkrumah et al. 2016).

### 23.6 Processing of Nickel Biomass and Bio-Ore

Early nickel phytomining trials employed an arc furnace to smelt nickel metal from the bio-ore (Chaney et al. 2007). Recent studies suggest other methods could further capitalize on the "biopurity" of the bio-ore to increase the profitability of nickel phytomining. For instance, the hydrometallurgical processing method could be a suitable alternative to derive higher value products from the bio-ore: (1) nickel catalysts for the organic chemistry industry (Losfeld et al. 2012) and (2) nickel chemicals for the electroplating industry (Barbaroux et al. 2012). Research is still needed to explore more efficient methods to synthesize nickel products from the biomass.

#### 23.7 Tropical Phytomining

Tropical regions (e.g., in the Asia-Pacific region, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Papua New Guinea, and New Caledonia) have the greatest potential for phytomining as large expanses of ultramafic soils exist (van der Ent et al. 2013b, 2016). Phytomining operations in this region may be a complementary process to existing mining operations, as part of the progressive rehabilitation process after conventional resource extraction. Agromining could also replace existing marginal agriculture on poor ultramafic soils. The application of agromining is envisaged to provide opportunities for an income source for communities in Malaysia, Indonesia, and the Philippines as an alternative type of agriculture or agroforestry pursuit ("farming for nickel").

Substantial progress is currently being made in developing nickel phytomining in the Asia-Pacific Region by our research team. We have recently discovered over 20 new hyperaccumulator plant species in Sabah (Malaysia) and Halmahera (Indonesia), which is indicative of the very high potential of this untapped resource in the Asia–Pacific Region (van der Ent et al. unpublished data). From the different hyperaccumulator plant species that have been discovered, suitable "metal crops" are now being selected for agronomic trials to assess growth performance, fertilizer requirements, and sustained nickel yields of the crops when successively harvested. Suitable "metal crops" are selected based on their relative growth rates, nickel accumulation, and effective propagation methods. Currently, experimental studies (Figure 23.2) are undertaken to establish optimal agronomic systems to stimulate biomass production and nickel yield in two prospective species: *Phyllanthus securinegoides* (Phyllanthaceae) and *Rinorea bengalensis* (Violaceae).



#### FIGURE 23.2

Pot trial undertaken over a period of 12 months in Sabah, Malaysia, with *Phyllanthus securinegoides* (small leaf blades) and *Rinorea bengalensis* (large leaves) to determine optimal agronomic systems for tropical nickel phytomining.

# 23.8 Potential Lifespan and Economics of Nickel Phytomining

As with all methods for resource extraction, phytomining will be finite due to the diminishing concentrations of nickel in the zone accessible by plant roots (Chaney et al. 2014a, b). Nevertheless, considering soil materials with 0.2 wt. % nickel and "metal crops" with a yield of 100 kg nickel ha<sup>-1</sup> the phytomining venture may be sustainable for decades (van der Ent et al. 2015a). Table 23.2 presents the economic potential of nickel phytomining.

We summarize the economic analysis under two main production systems: (1) an intensive system such as demonstrated in the United States (Li et al. 2003), and (2) an extensive system as demonstrated in Albania (Bani et al. 2015a). Here we define an intensive system as a fully mechanized production system where the cost of operation includes costs for seed stock, fertilizers, labor, and equipment, whereas an extensive system mainly employs manual labor in its operation, and the production cost involves the use of fertilizers, herbicides, and complementary agricultural management practices. The production costs in the extensive system are relatively low, and this system is recommended for places with readily available and relatively low-cost manual labor. It is evident that nickel phytomining is a highly profitable agricultural technology for the respective systems. The profitability could increase when recovery of energy of combustion and sale of carbon credits are considered. We stress that nickel metal product is profitable; however, other higher value nickel products such as pure nickel salts may further increase the profitability of nickel agromining in the near future.

#### **TABLE 23.2**

Expense and Income Category	Intensive System (ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup> )	Extensive System (ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup> )	
Cost of production in 2016	\$1074	\$600	
Cost of metal recovery	\$720	\$396	
Gross value	\$3600	\$1980	
Net value	\$1806	\$984	

Economic Analysis of an Annual Nickel Phytomining Crop

Economic analysis of an annual nickel phytomining crop per ha under two main production systems: (1) an intensive system such as demonstrated in the USA (Li et al. 2003a) and (2) an extensive system as demonstrated in Albania (Bani et al. 2015a). The cost of production in the intensive system is high, including costs for seed stock, fertilisers, labour and equipment, whereas the production costs in the extensive system are relatively low because it mainly involves the use of fertilisers, herbicides and complementary agricultural management practices. The annual crop nickel yield for an intensive system and an extensive system are 200 and 110 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The commercial value of nickel of \$18 per kg was estimated as an average value of nickel over a period of 5 years (2010–2015) at the London Metal Exchange. The cost of metal recovery was estimated at 20% of nickel value.

## 23.9 Conclusions

Phytomining technology has been successfully demonstrated in Mediterranean and temperate climates for nickel using Alyssum spp., and our ongoing research in Southeast Asia using P. securinegoides and R. bengalensis will be critical to provide "real-life" evidence of tropical phytomining. The nickel mining industry needs to test phytomining as a supplement to traditional mining as it uses only a small portion of sub-economic ultramafic soil deposits and could be highly profitable. Nickel phytomining will also improve soil fertility and reduce toxicity due to soil nickel; this is a significant service rendered through phytomining which we then defined as agromining. As such it will make the land suitable for other future usage, including forestry and some types of traditional agriculture. It is envisaged that agromining could also support local livelihoods with income opportunities as an alternative type of agriculture: to farm nickel. The demonstration of phytomining other strategic elements (e.g., cobalt, manganese, rare earths) is underway and should use the same general approach as nickel phytomining.

#### Acknowledgments

P. N. Nkrumah is the recipient of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship at The University of Queensland. A. van der Ent is the recipient of an Australian Research Council Post Doctoral Fellowship (DE160100429).

### References

- Álvarez-López, V., Á. Prieto-Fernández, M. I. Cabello-Conejo, and P. S. Kidd. 2016. Organic amendments for improving biomass production and metal yield of Ni-hyperaccumulating plants. *Science of Total Environment* 548–549:370–379.
- Anderson, C. W. N., R. R. Brooks, A. Chiarucci et al. 1999. Phytomining for nickel, thallium and gold. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration* 67(1–3):407–415.
- Anderson, C. W. N., R. R. Brooks, R. B. Stewart, and R. Simcock. 1998. Harvesting a crop of gold in plants. *Nature* 395(6702):553–554.
- Anderson, C., F. Moreno, and J. Meech. 2005. A field demonstration of gold phytoextraction technology. *Minerals Engineering* 18(4):385–392.
- Angle, J. S., R. L. Chaney, A. J. M. Baker et al. 2001. Developing commercial phytoextraction technologies: Practical considerations. *South African Journal of Science* 97(11–12):619–623.

- Baker, A. J. M. 1999. *Revegetation of asbestos mine wastes*. Princeton Architectural Press, New York.
- Baker, A. J. M., W. H. O. Ernst, A. van der Ent, F. Malaisse, and R. Ginocchio. 2010. Metallophytes: The unique biological resource, its ecology and conservational status in Europe, central Africa and Latin America. In *Ecology of Industrial Pollution*, L.C. Batty, K.B. Hallberg (Eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 7–40.
- Baker, A. J. M., J. Proctor, M. M. J. Van Balgooy, and R. D. Reeves. 1992. Hyperaccumulation of nickel by the flora of the ultramafics of Palawan, Republic of the Philippines. In *The Vegetation of Ultramafic (Serpentine) Soils*, A. J. M. Baker, J. Proctor, R. D. Reeves (Eds.). Intercept, Andover, UK, pp. 291–304.
- Bani, A. 2007. In-situ phytoextraction of Ni by a native population of *Alyssum murale* on an ultramafic site (Albania). *Plant and Soil* 293:79–89.
- Bani, A., G. Echevarria, S. Sulçe, and J. L. Morel. 2015a. Improving the agronomy of *Alyssum murale* for extensive phytomining: A five-year field study. *International Journal of Phytoremediation* 17(1–6):117–127.
- Bani, A., G. Echevarria, X. Zhang et al. 2015b. The effect of plant density in nickelphytomining field experiments with *Alyssum murale* in Albania. *Australian Journal of Botany* 63:72–77.
- Barbaroux, R., E. Plasari, G. Mercier, M. O. Simonnot, J. L. Morel, and J. F. Blais. 2012. A new process for nickel ammonium disulfate production from ash of the hyperaccumulating plant *Alyssum murale.Science of Total Environment* 423:111–119.
- Broadhurst, C. L., and R. L. Chaney. 2016. Growth and metal accumulation of an *Alyssum murale* nickel hyperaccumulator ecotype co-cropped with *Alyssum montanum* and perennial ryegrass in serpentine soil. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7:451.
- Brooks, R. R. 1998. Plants that Hyperaccumulate Heavy Metals: their Role in Phytoremediation, Microbiology, Archaeology, Mineral Exploration, and Phytomining. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Brooks, R. R., and E. D. Wither. 1977. Nickel accumulation by *Rinorea bengalensis* (Wall.) O.K. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration* 7:295–300.
- Brooks, R. R., M. Chambers, L. Nicks, and B. H. Robinson. 1998. Phytomining. *Trends Plant Science* 3:359–362.
- Chaney, R. L. 1983. Plant uptake of inorganic waste constituents. In *Land Treatment* of *Hazardous Wastes*, J.F. Parr, P.B. Marsh, Kla J.M (Eds.). Noyes Data Corp, Park Ridge, New Jersey, pp. 50–76.
- Chaney, R. L., and M. Mahoney. 2014a. Phytostabilization and phytomining: Principles and successes. Paper 104, *Proceedings of the Life of Mines Conference*, July 15–17. Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Brisbane, Australia.
- Chaney, R. L., I. Baklanov, T. Centofanti et al. 2014b. Phytoremediation and phytomining: Using plants to remediate contaminated or mineralized environments. In *Plant Ecology and Evolution in Harsh Environments*, N. Rajakaruna, R.S. Boyd, and T. Harris (Eds.). Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp. 365–391.
- Chaney, R. L., J. S. Angle, A. J. M. Baker, and Y-M. Li. (1998). Method for phytomining of nickel, cobalt and other metals from soil. U.S. Patent 1998, 5, 711,784.
- Chaney, R. L., J. S. Angle, C. L. Broadhurst, C. A. Peters, R. V. Tappero, and D. L. Sparks. 2007. Improved understanding of hyperaccumulation yields commercial phytoextraction and phytomining technologies. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 36(5):1429–1433.

- Durand, A., S. Piutti, M. Rue, J. L. Morel, G. Echevarria, and E. Benizri. 2016. Improving nickel phytoextraction by co-cropping hyperaccumulator plants inoculated by plant growth promoting rhizobacteria. *Plant and Soil* 399:179–192.
- Harris, A. T., K. Naidoo, J. Nokes, T. Walker, and F. Orton. 2009. Indicative assessment of the feasibility of Ni and Au phytomining in Australia. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 17(2):194–200.
- Kukier, U., and R. L. Chaney. 2001. Amelioration of nickel phytotoxicity in muck and mineral soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30(6):1949–1960.
- Li, Y. M., R. L. Chaney, E. Brewer et al. 2003. Development of a technology for commercial phytoextraction of nickel: economic and technical considerations. *Plant* and Soil 249:107–115
- Losfeld, G., V. Escande, T. Jaffré, L. L'Huillier, C. Grison. 2012. The chemical exploitation of nickel phytoextraction: An environmental, ecologic and economic opportunity for New Caledonia. *Chemosphere* 89(7):907–910.
- Morrey, D. R., K. Balkwill, and M. J. Balkwill. 1989. Studies on serpentine flora— Preliminary analyses of soils and vegetation associated with serpentinite rock formations in the Southeastern Transvaal. *South African Journal of Botany* 55:171–177.
- Nicks, L., and M. Chambers. 1995. Farming for metals. *Mining and Environmental Management* 3:15–18.
- Nicks, L., and M. Chambers. 1998. Pioneering study of the potential of phytomining for nickel. In *Plants that Hyperaccumulate Heavy Metals: Their Role in Phytoremediation, Microbiology, Archaeology, Mineral Exploration and Phytomining,* R. R. Brooks (Ed.). CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- Nkrumah, P. N., A, J. M. Baker, R. L. Chaney et al. 2016. Current status and challenges in developing nickel phytomining: An agronomic perspective. *Plant and Soil* 406(1):55–69.
- Reeves, R. D. 2003. Tropical hyperaccumulators of metals and their potential for phytoextraction. *Plant and Soil* 249:57–65.
- Reeves, R. D., A. J. M. Baker, A. Borhidi, and R. Berazain. 1996. Nickel-accumulating plants from the ancient serpentine soils of Cuba. *New Phytologist* 133:217–224.
- Robinson, B. H., R. R. Brooks, A. W. Howes, J. H. Kirkman, and P. E. H. Gregg. 1997. The potential of the high-biomass nickel hyperaccumulator Berkheya coddii for phytoremediation and phytomining. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration* 60(2):115–126.
- Rodrigues, J., V. Houzelot, F. Ferrari et al. 2016. Life cycle assessment of agromining chain highlights role of erosion control and bioenergy. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 139:770–778.
- Séré, G., C. Schwartz, S. Ouvrard, C. Sauvage, J. C. Renat, and J. L. Morel. 2008. Soil construction: A step for ecological reclamation of derelict lands. *Journal of Soils* and Sediments 8:130–136.
- USDA. 2015. United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Plants Profile. http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=ALMU (accessed December 24, 2015).
- van der Ent, A., A. J. M. Baker, M. M. J. Van Balgooy, and A. Tjoa. 2013b. Ultramafic nickel laterites in Indonesia: Mining, plant diversity, conservation and nickel phytomining. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration* 128:72–79.
- van der Ent, A., A. J. M. Baker, R. D. Reeves, et al. 2015a. "Agromining": Farming for metals in the future? *Environmental Science and Technology* 49(8):4773–4780.

- van der Ent, A., D. R. Mulligan, R. Repin, and P. D. Erskine. 2017. Foliar elemental profiles in the ultramafic flora of Kinabalu Park (Sabah, Malaysia). *Ecological Research* [In Press].
- van der Ent, A., G. Echevarria, and M. Tibbett. 2016. Delimiting soil chemistry thresholds for nickel hyperaccumulator plants in Sabah (Malaysia). *Chemoecology* 26(2):67–82.
- van der Ent, A., R. D. Reeves, A. J. M. Baker, J. Pollard, and H. Schat. 2013a. Hyperaccumulators of metal and metalloid trace elements: facts and fiction. *Plant and Soil* 362(1–2):319–334.
- Wild, H. 1974. Indigenous plants and chromium in Rhodesia. Kirkia 9(2):233-241.